# The Need For Measurement-Based Care and Remote Patient Monitoring In Behavioral Health & Substance Use Disorder

October 2021

Daniel Leung

# **Contents:**

Introduction	3
Measurement-Based Care (MBC)	3
Remote Patient Monitoring (RPM)	6
Combining Remote Patient Monitoring with Measurement-Based Care	7
Applying Remote Patient Monitoring Enabled Measurement-Based Care	8
Conclusion	9
Appendix A — Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (PHQ-9)	10
Appendix B — General Anxiety Disorder-7 (GAD-7)	12
Appendix C – Perceived Stress Scale (PSS)	13
Appendix D — Outcomes Rating Scale ORS	15
Appendix E – CPT Codes For Reimbursement Billing (United States)	19
Appendix F — Reimbursement Charts - United States	20
References	22

# Introduction

One in five people experience a Mental Health Disorder in any given year (HHS & Han, 2020), with over half of adults in the United States being diagnosed with a Mental Health Disorder within their lifetime (HHS & Han, 2020). A study performed by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention discovered that Anxiety and Depression diagnoses had increased four-fold during the COVID-19 pandemic in the United States (Czeisler et al., 2020). Moreover, three out of fifty people in the United States struggle with Substance Use Disorders (SUD), costing the economy \$600 Billion per year (NIH & Volkow, 2018), while deaths from overdoses have tripled since 1990 (CDC et al., 2013). Studies show that Mental Health Disorders can spark SUDs, with 20% of those who struggle with Anxiety and Depression ending up struggling with SUD (Pettinati & Dundon, 2011). Furthermore, a study performed by the Department of Human and Health Services (HHS) in the United States indicates that 97.94% of those who struggle with Substance Use Disorder, with over a third of these individuals classified as having severe Mental Health Disorders (HHS & Han, 2020).

The purpose of this article is to validate the need for Measurement-Based Care (MBC) to effectively prevent and treat Mental Health Disorders, along with better reporting in behavioral health (BH). This article provides evidence around the benefits of adopting Remote Patient Monitoring (RPM) technology to solve the prominent barriers of widespread use of MBC. The combination of RPM-enabled MBC can improve outcomes for patients while decreasing treatment times drastically, costs, and administrative burden on providers.

# Measurement-Based Care (MBC)

Measurement-based care (MBC) is the systematic evaluation of patient symptoms before, during, and after an encounter to inform behavioral health (BH) treatment for Mental Health Disorders and allow adjustments as needed. One of the main contributors to poor outcomes in routine care is that providers do not systematically use Symptom Rating Scales (SRS). These typically include the Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (PHQ-9), General Anxiety Disorder-7 (GAD-7), and Perceived Stress Score (PSS) (Appendix A, B, C) to determine quantitatively whether their patients are improving even though diagnostic-specific rating scales are proven to be highly clinically actionable (Fortney et al., 2015). Real-world research has shown that providers can only detect deterioration of patients 24.1% of the time without administering a MBC approach (Hatfield et al., 2009). That means that over three-quarters of patients may not be receiving the proper treatment they need.

Furthermore, without a MBC approach, providers cannot demonstrate to payors the value of their treatment and services, resulting in chronic underfunding of BH services (Fortney et al., 2015). Mental Health Disorders account for 27% of disability claims (Vos et al., 2012), yet only BH accounts for only 6.8% of spending budgets (Melek et al., 2014). The inability to track outcomes

in a systematic and administratively feasible way additionally prevents an industry-wide transition towards value-based - care (VBC). Beyond the alignment of priorities amongst payors, providers, and patients where all parties involved work together to provide better Quality of Care (QoC), achieve better outcomes, and thus patient satisfaction, Blue Cross Blue Shield (BCBS) was able to realize savings of over 12% in treatment performed in a VBC setting (NEJM Catalyst, 2017). Furthermore, there is substantial evidence supporting the improved outcomes when a VBC model is applied. Researchers at Brown University in the United States reviewed readmission rates of Accountable Care Organizations (ACOs) within Medicare/ Medicaid built on the VBC model compared to traditional fee-for-service organizations. These studies found that health systems that adopted the VBC model saw a 14.9% decrease in readmissions within thirty days and an even more significant decrease in readmissions by 19.1% within the first three days of patient discharge (Winblad et al., 2017).

Despite MBC's demonstrated ability to enhance usual care by expediting improvements and rapidly detecting patients whose health would otherwise deteriorate, it is underused, with typically less than 20% of behavioral health providers integrating it into their practice. Only 18% of psychiatrists and 11% of psychologists in the United States routinely administer Symptom Rating Scales (SRS) (Fortney et al., 2015). The limited use of SRS to provide BH care is equivalent to treating hypertension without using a blood pressure cuff to determine whether a patient's blood pressure is beyond acceptable thresholds (Fortney et al., 2015). For MBC to be effective in BH, data from SRS must be current, accurate, interpretable, and readily available during clinical encounters (Fortney et al., 2015). Currently, providers consider SRS as a diagnostic tool used at the beginning of a patient lifecycle only. However, the same SRS has been proven in studies to be trans-diagnostic, meaning SRSs can be incorporated into routine care management regardless of the patient population, types of clinical procedures, or treatment state (Fortney et al., 2015). The evidence suggests that MBC via SRS is effective and beneficial during all stages of the patient lifecycle.

MBC has been proven in psychotherapy to improve outcomes two-fold on the Outcomes Rating Scale (ORS) (Duncan et al., 2021). The ORS (Appendix D) has been proven reliable for the past two decades and is a long-form SRS questionnaire (Miller et al., 2003). Beyond outcomes, MBC offers benefits across multiple levels. Patients are more involved with their treatment, helping them better understand their symptoms while quantifying and communicating their experiences. Providers can be alerted when patients lack progress, which is especially important given that many providers typically overestimate how well patients are doing throughout treatment.

The United States Army, State Government of Washington, Anthem Blue Cross Blue Shield, United Healthcare, Aetna, and Medicare/Medicaid programs have all launched incentives or requirements to adopt MBC. Furthermore, health payors can benefit from the aggregate data on the efficacy of various forms of treatments on varying populations to inform improved population health approaches (Fortney et al., 2015). Studies show that MBC to be effective across many patient populations, diagnoses, and treatment types, from marriage counseling to individual psychotherapy to pharmacotherapy (Fortney et al., 2015). Additional evidence supporting the efficacy of MBC is its use as a standard operating practice in randomized controlled trials in behavioral health drug development for the past few decades, providing frequent and timely feedback on patient symptoms to providers and pharmaceuticals developers to demonstrate outcomes and trends towards significance. Regulatory agencies such as the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) in the United States rely on this evidence to approve the resulting medications for sale. With this, MBC has been a proven and effective method in the development of treatments. Recent studies have found that 94% of psychiatrists found MBC approaches to improve Depression severity, with 100% of them finding MBC helpful in monitoring response to treatment, 82% using it to tailor their treatment plans, and 71% using it as a tool to monitor the risk of suicide. Washington State has now mandated MBC approaches after finding that patients could recover 256% faster at twenty-five weeks versus sixty-four weeks (Fortney et al., 2015). After seeing a substantial improvement in outcomes by over fifty percent, the United States Veteran Affairs (V.A.) has also mandated the adoption of MBC across 150,000 patients who are part of Anxiety, Depression, SUD, and PTSD programs (Fortney et al., 2015).

A study performed in Shanghai identified multiple barriers to the adoption of MBC via SRS (Murphy et al., 2021). From a provider perspective, there is an additional administrative burden imposed on the provider in collecting SRS data from patients and the analysis/processing of this data into a patient's chart. Providers were also concerned about the accuracy of the data collected from patients via SRS due to the self-reported nature of these assessments; patients may be biased when completing these questionnaires or responding incorrectly for the sake of completing them. Additionally, the SRS assessments collect data at a single point on the time scale, which may not provide full context into the patient's real-world life events. From a patient's perspective, SRS may be bothersome. In most cases, results from SRS assessments may not be shared with the patient, resulting in patients not understanding the value or utility of SRS assessments, further disincentivizing patients to complete these correctly and with care (Murphy et al., 2021).

In the treatment of SUD, a recent study performed with providers at one publicly-funded and two-privately-funded SUD treatment clinics concluded in a recommendation to implement MBC to replace existing practices or workflows for evaluating & communicating patient progress (Tauscher et al., 2021). Providers in the study agreed that MBC could improve treatment times and relapse rates through a better and more efficient ability to detect clinical improvement or decline, improved therapeutic alliance, and more accurate judgments to allow for modification of intervention plans based on the assessment measures collected (Tauscher et al., 2021). Beyond improved outcomes, providers expressed additional benefits of MBC, including improved patient-clinician communication, empowerment of

patients, improved case information communication amongst providers in a collaborative care model, and the ability to quantify results over time for more efficient reporting (Tauscher et al., 2021). Another study conducted by researchers at the Society for the Study of Addiction found MBC to be effective in personalizing the delivery of medications and therapeutics for opioid use disorder, resulting in better outcomes and reduced treatment times (Marsden et al., 2019).

# Remote Patient Monitoring (RPM)

Today, most Americans take a proactive approach to Physical Health, from annual physicals to regular labs and genetic testing to identify potential health risks. We now even have multiple devices to detect potential physical health issues early and passively built into everyday wearables such as watches—from heart rate monitors that detect irregular heart rhythms to blood oxygen monitors. The same approach is not taken in behavioral health, with most Americans seeking treatment only during crisis moments. Furthermore, a recent report from the Anxiety and Depression Association of America (AADA) demonstrated that only one-third of those with a mental health disorder seek mental health professional assistance (AADA, 2021). The symptoms and effects of Mental Health Disorder typically grow exponentially without intervention, requiring higher levels of treatment over time if left untreated.

Remote Patient Monitoring (RPM), a technology that allows for monitoring patients outside of typical clinical environments such as at home, has proved to decrease costs by ten percent in the real world for physical health (Peretz et al., 2016). Although some providers will ask patients to complete SRS Assessments such as the Patient Health Questionnaire 9 (PHQ-9), General Anxiety Disorder 7 (GAD-7), or Perceived Stress Score (PSS) remotely either via telephone or email, very few patients complete these questionnaires in advance of the clinical encounter, and more importantly, accurately. The flaw in the current system contributes to over half of patients in primary care who have depression never receiving a diagnosis or treatment (Siniscalchi et al., 2020). Studies show that for measurement-based care to be effective and clinically actionable in behavioral health treatment, feedback must be received quickly, in context, and accurately (Fortney et al., 2015).

In 2011, Dr. Gregory Skipper and Dr. Robert Dupont published an article in Addiction Professional discussing RPM use in Physicians who developed Substance Use Disorders and completed initial treatment. 79% of those who opted into a long-term RPM program did not relapse (Skipper & Dupont, 2019). Further research conducted at the University of Nebraska indicates relapse is broken into three sequential phases; the first being an emotional relapse, the second being a mental relapse, and finally, the physical relapse. Prevention could happen at any of these three phases, and that early detection and prevention results in improved outcomes and decreased costs (Guenzel et al., 2021). Symptoms of emotional relapse include isolation in a specific location, not attending meetings, focusing on other people's problems,

poor sleeping or eating habits (Guenzel et al., 2021). RPM technologies such as those from LivNao can be used for the early detection of these symptoms. Beyond the capability of predicting SRS assessment scores such as the PHQ-9, GAD-7, and PSS, LivNao's RPM technology provides context into the computation of these SRS predictions, including the detection of changes to sleep, geolocation, and mobility habits (Leung, 2020), all of which are indicative of an upcoming or current emotional relapse. The use of RPM technology for early detection of relapse to allow for intervention could help prevent relapse from progressing to the physical stage, barring a complete relapse.

# **Combining Remote Patient Monitoring with Measurement-Based Care**

While MBC is proven to be highly effective in reducing costs and improving outcomes, it is not adopted widely due to the additional administrative burden on providers and patients. A study performed in 2018 showed that seventy-eight percent of providers are experiencing burnout, primarily because they spend twenty-three percent of their time on administrative burdens and frustrating paperwork (Price et al., 2018). A passive approach, such as the utilization of RPM, could help eliminate any administrative burden associated with MBC, in addition to providing some alleviation to one of the top reasons leading to provider burnout.

These barriers to adoption are further evidenced by a recent study performed by LivNao, a startup that uses RPM technology to drive MBC in behavioral health. Their research performed across two employers and one healthcare network demonstrated that although eighty-five percent of individuals have experimented with wellness products validated to improve mental health, only nineteen percent reported continued bi-weekly use. Direct feedback from user-testing indicates that users were frustrated with the lengthy questionnaires to inform a MBC approach to recommend interventions. Users did not see value in completing the long questionnaires regularly, which was necessary for effective treatment (Leung, 2020). Further into the study, LivNao experimented with using passively-collected mobile device data to predict answers to and replace these lengthy SRS questionnaires. These experiments demonstrated initial success in predicting SRS assessments such as the Patient Health Questionnaire 9 (PHQ-9), General Anxiety Disorder 7 (GAD-7), and Perceived Stress (PSS) scores with a fair degree of accuracy at sixty percent to eighty percent (Leung, 2020). Further development is underway to improve accuracy rates and continue to validate the efficacy of this product in clinical settings.

The 2021 study (Tauscher et al., 2021) identified multiple barriers to adopting MBC in SUD. The top two barriers were the subjectiveness of patient-reported SRS and the burden of time and potentially increased administrative work for providers. Providers noted that patients struggling with a SUD were more likely to provide unreliable, incomplete, or inaccurate information when completing SRS assessments. Unreliable, incomplete, or inaccurate SRS data eliminates the utility of MBC. Additionally, the manual inputting of this data creates an

additional administrative burden for providers, one of the top contributors to provider burnout (Tauscher et al., 2021). Incorporating RPM into MBC in SUD can eliminate both barriers, presenting providers and patients with accurate, contextual, and up-to-date SRS data without any additional administrative burden.

# Applying Remote Patient Monitoring Enabled Measurement-Based Care

Multiple stakeholders stand to benefit from bringing truly passive RPM to MBC. Patients, providers, health systems, and payors can see both quantitative and qualitative benefits when adopting RPM-enabled MBC.

Patients can expect improved and faster outcomes, allowing them to redirect their focus towards other aspects of their lives, such as work and family. Additionally, studies show that providing progress and outcome feedback to patients helps them fully understand their condition, fluctuations, and context, allowing them to better communicate with their provider and feel more involved in their treatment plan (Fortney et al., 2015). Patients can expect a 256% reduction in treatment time (Fortney et al., 2015) and fifty percent better outcomes (Fortney et al., 2015). Additionally, better and faster outcomes can mean extended longevity and lower mortality for patients. Patients diagnosed with mild anxiety are twenty percent more likely to die over ten years when compared to patients without anxiety when left untreated (Goodman & Chang, 2012). In the case of depression, longevity is negatively affected by ten to twelve years across both women and men when left untreated, much more than the effects of smoking (Gilman et al., 2017). Earlier detection and better treatment powered by RPM-enabled MBC has the opportunity to reduce the impact of anxiety and depression on both mortality and longevity rates. As evidenced by Dr. Skipper and Dr. Dupont's 2011 article, RPM reduced relapse rates in physicians with SUDs by 21%. Furthermore, early detection of relapse in the emotional relapse phase can prevent a complete relapse.

Beyond patients—providers and health systems can expect to see improved and faster outcomes due to the speedy feedback informing any necessary adjustment to treatment as needed. Additionally, providers and health systems can expect streamlined data collection and analysis, cutting down on administrative burden, one of the leading causes of provider burnout (Rao et al., 2017) while enabling better QOC (Fortney et al., 2015).

Primary Care Providers (PCPs) can also expect an additional fifty dollars to seventy dollars in reimbursements per patient per visit when employing RPM-enabled MBC (Appendix E). The average PCP sees 19.7 patients per day in the U.S., translating to a minimum of \$985 to \$1,379 in additional revenue per provider per day if RPM-enabled MBC were adopted (Price et al., 2018). Annually, this could mean an additional \$257,085 to \$359,919 in revenue for a provider working in their private practice or \$248,087,025 to \$347,321,835 for a health system, given the average number of PCPs in a health system is 691 providers (HHS, 2017).

Behavioral Health Providers (BHPs) can expect between \$50 to \$183.71 in additional reimbursements per patient per visit if they were to employ RPM-enabled MBC (Appendix E). The average BHP has a caseload of twenty-five patients per week, equating to five patients per day (Edmondstone, 2021). These statistics would translate to \$250 to \$918.55 in additional revenue per day if RPM-enabled MBC were adopted (Appendix E).

Payors can realize substantial cost savings and better transparency and accountability of providers and BH treatments (Fortney et al., 2015). The cost savings, transparency, and accountability could help payors realize the returns on their investments into BH, helping drive a more equal and proportional distribution of funding towards BH and SUD treatment. Payors can also identify treatments and provider networks leading with the best outcomes in a VBC setting and learn from their practices, turning them into best practices adopted across their broader networks. These learnings and adjustments ultimately result in better outcomes at a larger scale across the general population (Fortney et al., 2015). The annual cost of substance abuse to payors and governments in the United States is \$510.8 Billion. The adoption of RPM-enabled MBC has the potential to reduce this spending by 21%, resulting in a potential savings of over \$107.27 Billion per year (Skipper & Dupont, 2019).

#### Conclusion

In conclusion, all stakeholders, including patients, providers, payors, and health systems, would benefit from RPM-enabled MBC in behavioral health & Substance Use Disorders. There is clear evidence on how RPM-enabled MBC would improve outcomes, quality of care, relapse rates, and patient satisfaction while reducing the total cost of care. Based on the substantial evidence provided in this article, Primary Care Providers, BH Providers and substance treatment centers must implement RPM-enabled MBC with the help of payors who already have programs in place to financially incentivize providers to do so for the long-term sustainability of our populations.

# Appendix A – Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (PHQ-9)

Over the last 2 weeks, how often have you been bothered by any of the following problems?	Not at all sure	Several days	Over half the days	Nearly every day
1. Little interest or pleasure in doing things	0	1	2	3
2. Feeling down, depressed, or hopeless	0	1	2	3
3. Trouble falling or staying asleep, or sleeping too much	0	1	2	3
4. Feeling tired or having little energy	0	1	2	3
5. Poor appetite or overeating	0	1	2	3
6. Feeling bad about yourself — or if that you are a failure or have let yourself or your family down	0	1	2	3
7. Trouble concentrating on things, such as reading the newspaper or watching television		1	2	3
8. Moving or speaking so slowly that other people could have noticed. Or the opposite — being so fidgety or restless that you have been moving around a lot more than usual		1	2	3
9. Thoughts that you would be better off dead, or of hurting yourself	0	1	2	3
Add the score for each column	+	+	+	

#### PHQ-9 Questionnaire

Total Score (add your column scores) =

#### PHQ-9 Scoring

For initial diagnosis:

- 1. Patient completes PHQ-9 Quick Depression Assessment
- 2. If there are at least 4 answers in the shaded section, consider a depressive disorder. Add score to determine severity.

Consider Major Depressive Disorder:

• If there are at least 5 answers in the shaded section

Consider Other Depressive Disorder:

• If there are 2-4 answers in the shaded section

Note: Since the questionnaire relies on patient self-report, all responses should be verified by the clinician, and a definitive diagnosis is made on clinical grounds taking into account how well the patient understood the questionnaire, as well as other relevant information from the patient.

Diagnoses of Major Depression Disorder or Other Depressive Disorder also require impairment of social, occupational, or other important areas of functioning (Q10) and ruling out normal

bereavement, a history of Manic Episode (Bipolar Disorder), and a physical disorder, medication, or other drug as the biological cause of depressive symptoms.

To monitor severity over time for newly diagnosed patients or patients in current treatment for depression:

- Patients may complete questionnaires at baseline and at regular intervals (i.e. every 2 weeks) at home and bring them in at their next appointment for scoring or they may compete the questionnaire during each scheduled appointment.
- 2. Add up answers by column.
- 3. Add together column scores to get a Total Score
- 4. Refer to the accompanying PHQ-9 Scoring Box to interpret the Total score
- 5. Results may be included in patient files to assist you in setting up a treatment goal, determining degree of response, as well as guiding treatment intervention

Total Score:	Result
1 to 4	Minimal depression
5 to 9	Mild depression
10 to 14	Moderate depression
15 to 19	Moderately severe depression
20 to 27	Severe depression

PHQ-9 total score for the nine items ranges from 0 to 27.

# Appendix B – General Anxiety Disorder-7 (GAD-7)

Over the last 2 weeks, how often have you been bothered by the following problems?	Not at all sure	Several days	Over half the days	Nearly every day	
1. Feeling nervous, anxious or on edge	0	1	2	3	
2. Not being able to stop or control worrying	0	1	2	3	
3. Worrying too much about different things	0	1	2	3	
4. Trouble relaxing	0	1	2	3	
5. Being so restless that it's hard to sit still		1	2	3	
6. Becoming easily annoyed or irritable	0	1	2	3	
7. Feeling afraid as if something awful might happen	0	1	2	3	
Add the score for each column	+	+	+		
Total Score (add your column scores) =					

# GAD-7 Questionnaire

#### GAD-7 Scoring

This is calculated by assigning scores of 0, 1, 2, and 3 to the response categories, respectively, of "not at all," "several days," "more than half the days," and "nearly every day."

Total Score:	Result
0 to 4	Minimal Anxiety
5 to 9	Mild Anxiety
10 to 14	Moderate Anxiety
15 to 21	Severe Anxiety

GAD-7 total score for the seven items ranges from 0 to 21.

# Appendix C – Perceived Stress Scale (PSS)

In the last month, how often have you:	Never	Almost Never	Some Times	Fairly Often	Very Often
1. Been upset because something that happened unexpectedly?	0	1	2	3	4
2. Felt that you were unable to control the important things in life?	0	1	2	3	4
3. Felt nervous and "stressed"?	0	1	2	3	4
4. Felt confident about your ability to handle your personal problems?	0	1	2	3	4
5. Felt that things were going your way?	0	1	2	3	4
6. Found that you could not cope with all the things you had to do?	0	1	2	3	4
7. Been able to control irritations in your life?	0	1	2	3	4
8. Felt that you were on top of things?	0	1	2	3	4
9. Been angered because of things outside of your control?					4
10. Felt difficulties were piling so high. you could not overcome them?	0	1	2	3	4

#### **PSS** Questionnaire

#### **PSS Scoring**

The Perceived Stress Scale PSS is the most widely used psychological instrument for measuring the perception of stress. It is a measure of the degree to which situations in one's life are appraised as stressful. Items were designed to tap how unpredictable, uncontrollable, and overloaded respondents find their lives. The scale also includes a number of direct queries about current levels of experienced stress. The PSS was designed for use in community samples with at least a junior high school education. The items are easy to understand and the responses alternatives are simple to grasp. Moreover, the questions are of a general nature and hence are relatively free of content specific to any subpopulation group. The questions in the PSS ask about feelings and thoughts during the last month. In each case, respondents are asked how often they felt a certain way.

Evidence for Validity – Higher PSS scores were associated with for example:

- 1. Failure to quit smoking
- 2. Failure among diabetics to control blood sugar levels
- 3. Greater vulnerability to stressful life-event-elicited depressive symptoms
- 4. More colds

Health Status Relationship To PSS — Cohen et al. (1988) shows correlations with PSS and Stress Measures, Self-Reported Health and Health Services Measures, health Behavior Measures, Smoking Status, Help Seeking Behavior. Temporal Nature – Because levels of appraised stress should be influenced by daily hassles, major events, and changes in coping resources, predictive validity of the PSS is expected to fall off rapidly after four to eight weeks.

Scoring – PSS scores are obtained by reversing responses (i.e. 0 = 4, 1 = 3, 2 = 2, 3 = 1, 4 = 0) to the four positively stated items (items 4, 5, 7, 8) and then summing across all scale items. A short 4 item scale can be made from questions 2, 4, 5, and 10 of the PSS 10 item scale.

Category	Ν	Mean	S.D.	
Gender				
Male	926	12.1	5.9	
Female	1406	13.7	6.6	
		Age		
18 to 29	645	14.2	6.2	
30 to 44	750	13.0	6.2	
45 to 54	285	12.6	6.1	
55 to 64	282	11.9	6.9	
65 & older	296	12.0	6.3	
		Race		
White	1924	12.8	6.2	
Hispanic	98	14.0	6.9	
Black	176	14.7	7.2	
Other	50	14.1	5	

Norm Groups – L. Harris Poll gathered information on 2,387 respondents in the U.S.

# Appendix D – Outcomes Rating Scale ORS

#### **ORS** Questionnaire

Looking back over the last week, including today, helps us understand how you have been doing in the following areas of your life, where marks to the left represent low levels and marks to the right indicate high levels.

Individually (Personal well-being):

Interpersonally (Family, close relationships):

Socially (Work, School, Friendships):

**Overall** (General sense of wellbeing):

**Attention Clinician:** To insure scoring accuracy print out the measure to insure the item lines are 10 CM in length. Alter the form until the lines print the correct length. Then erase this message.

|-----|

#### **ORS Scoring and Administration**

#### Rationale:

Change early in therapy is a good predictor of outcome. Early ratings of the alliance are a good predictor of retention and outcome.

The ORS & SRS can be useful teaching tools in supervision.

#### Protocol:

- 1. During every session every client will be given the appropriate ORS & SRS
- 2. When meeting with the client for the first time, provide a rationale for approach:
  - i. "We work a little differently here at.... Our first priority is making sure that you get the results you want. For this reason, it is very important that you are involved in monitoring our progress throughout counseling. We do this by formally using a measure called the Outcome Rating Scale. It takes about a minute. You fill it out at the beginning of each session and then we talk about the results. Research shows that if we are going to be successful in our work together, we should see signs of improvement earlier rather than later. If what we're doing works, then we'll continue. If not, then we'll try to change or modify what we're doing. If things still don't improve, then I'll work with you to find someone or someplace else for you to get the help you want. Does that make sense to you?
  - ii. At the end of each session, you will fill out one additional form, the Session Rating Scale. Again, it's very short, taking about a minute or less to complete and score. This scale helps me know how the session went. It takes the temperature of the visit, so to speak. We are doing this because the research shows your experience of our work together during the visit is a good predictor of whether we're successful. I'll explain more about this at the end of the session. Does this make sense?"

#### Beginning of each session

- 3. Clients will complete the Outcome Rating Scale (ORS) at the beginning of each session. It is helpful to remind clients of the directions. Their answers should reflect how they have been doing over the last week (or since the last session).
- 4. The counselor will score, plot on a graph the scores, and then review the ORS during the first few minutes of that session to clarify client's answers.
  - i. "I noticed that you indicated on the ORS that you were not doing as well today interpersonally. Can you tell me a little bit more about that?"
  - ii. As times goes by you can compare results from previous weeks and use it as a tool to talk about change.
  - iii. "This week your rating on the interpersonal scale is much higher than last week. Can you tell me what is different? What are you doing different?"
- 5. After the session the ORS can be scored using the template and the "total score" will be plotted on the ORS graph provided in the counselor packet.

# <u>At end on each session</u>

- 6. At the end of each session clients will complete the appropriate Session Rating Scale (SRS). Leave 5 minutes at the end of each session to complete SRS.
- 7. The counselor will score and review the SRS during the last few minutes of that session to clarify client's answers.
  - i. "I noticed that you felt like the approach to therapy was not a good fit for you. Can you tell what you were expecting and what you would like to be different?"
  - ii. The Rating on the SRS can be very helpful to you as you try to create a therapeutic environment that helps meet the needs of the client. It is this end of session conversation that will be helpful to the counselor and client as they work to form a working alliance.
- 8. The "total score" will be plotted on the SRS graph provided in the counselor packet

# <u>ORS</u>

- 9. Use clinical cut off to frame discussion.
  - i. "Scales below the dotted line indicate that you have responded to the items more like people in counseling and say that they would like some of aspects of their life to change or be different. Scores above the dotted line indicate that you responded more like people who are not in therapy and who are saying that things in their life are on track and that little change needs to take place."
- 10. When client scores fell below dotted line:
  - i. "It's easy to see that you are feeling pretty bad at the moment. Is that right? Can you tell me what's been happening; what brought you in today?"
  - ii. "OK. Now here's the good news. As bad as it is right now, people who score in this range are in fact most likely to experience improvement in treatment—and to do so sooner rather than later."
- 11. When scores fall nearer to but not beyond the cutoff:
  - i. "As you can see, your scores do fall below the dotted line. And while you did respond to the items more like people who are in counseling and wanting something to change, your scores are not super low. Life isn't terrible. You're not in crisis. Does that sound right? Can you tell me what brought you in today?"
- 12. When scores fall above the cutoff:
  - i. Explore reasons why client is in counseling. You are not to discourage them from getting treatment but rather to clarify reasons for treatment.
  - ii. If referred by someone, ask to get the client's view of the referral source's score. This might help with addressing motivation for treatment.
    - a. Second and subsequent sessions Go over results, with interpretation depending on the amount and rate of change.
      - <u>Reliable change</u> = improvement of 6 pts. or more but **below** clinical cut-off score of 25
        - reinforce changes

- <sup>-</sup> help client fine-tune their change strategy
- continue to see client
- consider spacing sessions out once slope of client's scores
- (2) <u>Clinically significant change</u> = improvement of 6 or more points and **above** clinical cut-score of 25
  - <sup>-</sup> help fine tune client change strategy
  - prepare client for eventual setbacks
  - consider spacing sessions
- (3) <u>Reliable deterioration</u> = decrease in 6 points of more and below clinical cut-off
  - are at risk for dropping out and suffering poor outcome
  - explore reason for client's worsening
  - review Session Rating Scale item-by-item to determine if unreported problems in alliance exist
  - consider changing frequency, mode, intensity, or provider of treatment if matters have not started to improve by third visit
- (4) <u>No Reliable Change</u>
  - After 3<sup>rd</sup> session, review Session Rating Scale item-by-item and consider making changes to treatment process
  - After 6<sup>th</sup> session, consultation, supervision or staffing is advised.
    - \* Try to connect scores with experience of client's life.

# Appendix E – CPT Codes For Reimbursement Billing (United States)

The chart below contains the Current Procedural Terminology (CPT) billing codes that could be used for reimbursement purposes in RPM-enabled MBC. The CPT codes included in the chart below are representative and relevant for reimbursement by both private payors such as Aetna, Anthem Blue Cross Blue Shield, Cigna, United Health in addition to Medicare and Medicaid programs in the United States. The most commonly used Symptom Rating Scales used for these procedures include the Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (PHQ-9), General Anxiety Disorder-7 (GAD-7), Hamilton Anxiety (HAM-A), Hamilton Depression (HAM-D) assessments. A corresponding International Classification of Diseases 10th Edition Clinical Modification (ICD-10-CM) diagnosis code is required when submitting a procedure for reimbursement is required. Commonly used ICD-10-CM codes are provided in Appendix F.

CPT Code	Description	Average Value
96127	Brief emotional/behavioral assessment with scoring and documentation, per standardized instrument	\$24.00
96136	Psychological or neuropsychological test administration/scoring by physician or other qualified healthcare professional	\$48.00
96138	Psychological or neuropsychological test administration/scoring by technician	\$38.92
96146	Psychological or neuropsychological test administration, with single automated instrument via electronic platform, with automated result only	\$2.16
96130	Psychological testing evaluation services by physician or other qualified healthcare professional	\$133.71
99453	Remote monitoring of physiologic parameter, initial; set-up and patient education on use of equipment.	\$21.00
99454	Remote monitoring of physiologic parameter, initial; set-up and patient education on use of equipment.	\$69.00
99457	Remote physiologic monitoring treatment management services	\$54.00
99458	Remote physiologic monitoring treatment management services	\$42.00
99091	Collection and interpretation of physiologic data	\$59.00
96127	Brief emotional/behavioral assessment with scoring and documentation, per standardized instrument.	\$20.00
96136	Psychological or neuropsychological test administration and scoring, two or more tests	\$48.00
96138	Psychological or neuropsychological test administration and scoring, two or more tests	\$39.00
96146	Psychological or neuropsychological test administration, with single automated instrument via electronic platform with automated result only.	\$2.00
96130	Psychological testing evaluation services including integration of patient data, interpretation of standardized test results and clinical data, clinical decision making, treatment planning and, report, and interactive feedback to the patient, family, member(s) or caregiver	\$122.00

#### CPT Codes Chart:

# Appendix F – Reimbursement Charts - United States

The chart below contains the International Classification of Diseases 10th Edition Clinical Modification (ICD-10-CM) diagnosis codes that are relevant to the Current Procedural Terminology (CPT) codes for reimbursement (Appendix E). ICD-10-CM codes are required when submitting procedures for reimbursement by both private payors and Medicare Medicaid payors.

Disorder Type	ICD-10-CM Code	Description
C5: Mental and behavioral disorders due to psychoactive substance use (F01-F99)	F10.94	Alcohol / Substance use, unspecified with induced mood disorder
C5: Mental and behavioral disorders due to psychoactive substance use (F01-F99)	F10.980	Alcohol / Substance use, unspecified with induced anxiety disorder
C5: Mental and behavioral disorders due to psychoactive substance use (F01-F99)	F10.982	Alcohol / Substance use, unspecified with induced sleep disorder
C5: Mood [affective] disorders (F30-F39)	F30.8	Other manic episodes
C5: Mood [affective] disorders (F30-F39)	F32.0	Major depressive disorder, single episode, mild
C5: Mood [affective] disorders (F30-F39)	F32.1	Major depressive disorder, single episode, moderate
C5: Mood [affective] disorders (F30-F39)	F32.2	Major depressive disorder, single episode, severe without psychotic features
C5: Mood [affective] disorders (F30-F39)	F32.3	Major depressive disorder, single episode, severe with psychotic features
C5: Mood [affective] disorders (F30-F39)	F32.4	Major depressive disorder, single episode in partial remission
C5: Mood [affective] disorders (F30-F39)	F32.5	Major depressive disorder, single episode in full remission
C5: Mood [affective] disorders (F30-F39)	F32.81	Premenstrual dysphoric disorder
C5: Mood [affective] disorders (F30-F39)	F32.89	Other specified depressive episodes
C5: Mood [affective] disorders (F30-F39)	F32.9	Major depressive disorder, single episode, unspecified
C5: Mood [affective] disorders (F30-F39)	F32.A	Depression, unspecified
C5: Mood [affective] disorders (F30-F39)	F41.1	Generalized anxiety disorder

#### ICD-10-CM Codes Chart:

Disorder Type	ICD-10-CM Code	Description
C5: Mood [affective] disorders (F30-F39)	F41.3	Other mixed anxiety disorders
C5: Mood [affective] disorders (F30-F39)	F41.8	Other specified anxiety disorders
C5: Mood [affective] disorders (F30-F39)	F41.9	Anxiety disorder, unspecified
C5: Mood [affective] disorders (F30-F39)	F43.0	Acute stress reaction

# ICD-10-CM Codes Chart (Cont'd):

Disorder Type	ICD-10-CM Code	Description
C5: Mood [affective] disorders (F30-F39)	F43.10	Post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD)
C5: Mood [affective] disorders (F30-F39)	F43.9	Reaction to severe stress, unspecified
C5: Mood [affective] disorders (F30-F39)	F51.05	Insomnia due to other mental disorder
C5: Mood [affective] disorders (F30-F39)	F51.13	Hypersomnia due to other mental disorder
C18: Symptoms and signs involving cognition, perception, emotional state and behavior (R40-R46)	R46.6	Undue concern and preoccupation with stressful events
C21: Persons with potential health hazards related to socioeconomic and psychosocial circumstances (Z55-Z65)	Z56.3	Stressful work schedule
C21: Persons with potential health hazards related to socioeconomic and psychosocial circumstances (255-265)	Z56.6	Uncongenial work environment
C21: Persons encountering health services in other circumstances (Z69-Z76)	Z73.0	Burn-out
C21: persons encountering health services in other circumstances (Z69-Z76)	Z73.3	Stress not elsewhere classified
C21: Persons with potential health hazards related to family and personal history and certain conditions influencing health status (Z77-Z99)	Z86.51	Personal history of combat and operational stress reaction
C21: Persons with potential health hazards related to family and personal history and certain conditions influencing health status (277-299)	Z86.59	Personal history of other mental and behavioral disorders

#### References

- AADA. (2021, May). Facts and Statistics. Anxiety and Depression Association of America. https:// adaa.org/understanding-anxiety/facts-statistics
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), Mack, K., C, J., Paulozzi, L., & Mack, K. (2013). Vital Signs: Overdoses of Prescription Opioid Pain Relievers and Other Drugs Among Women – United States, 1999–2010. *CDC Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report (MMWR)*, *62*(26), 537–542. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4604783/pdf/ 537-542.pdf
- Czeisler, M., Lane, R. I., Petrosky, E., Wiley, J. F., Christensen, A., Njai, R., Weaver, M. D., Robbins, R., Facer-Childs, E. R., Barger, L. K., Czeisler, C. A., Howard, M. E., & Rajaratnam, S. M. (2020). Mental Health, Substance Use, and Suicidal Ideation During the COVID-19 Pandemic – United States, June 24–30, 2020. *MMWR. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 69(32), 1049–1057. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6932a1
- Department of Human and Health Services Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (HHS). (2017). Snapshot of U.S. Health Systems, 2016. *Department of Human and Health Services* – *Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (HHS)*, 1. https://www.ahrq.gov/ sites/default/files/wysiwyg/snapshot-of-us-health-systems-2016v2.pdf
- Duncan, B. L., Reese, R. J., Lengerich, A. J., DeSantis, B., Comeau, C. V., & Johnson-Esparza, Y. (2021). Measurement-based care in integrated health care: A randomized clinical trial. *Families, Systems, & Health, 39*(2), 259–268. https://doi.org/10.1037/fsh0000608
- Edmondstone, C. (2021). Therapist Effects on the Outcomes of Psychotherapy and Their Perspectives on Training. *Therapist Effects on the Outcomes of Psychotherapy and Their Perspectives on Training*, 8551. https://scholar.uwindsor.ca/cgi/viewcontent.cgi? article=9556&context=etd
- Fortney, J., Sladek, R., Unützer, J., Kennedy, P., Harbin, H., Emmet, B., Alfred, L., & Carneal, G. (2015). *Fixing Behavioral Health Care in America — A National Call for Measurement-Based Care in the Delivery of Behavioral Health Services.* The Kennedy Forum. https:// www.thekennedyforum.org/app/uploads/2017/06/KennedyForum-MeasurementBasedCare\_2.pdf
- Gilman, S. E., Sucha, E., Kingsbury, M., Horton, N. J., Murphy, J. M., & Colman, I. (2017). Depression and mortality in a longitudinal study: 1952–2011. *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, *189*(42), E1304–E1310. https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.170125
- Goodman, B., & Chang, L. (2012, July 31). *Even Mild Anxiety May Shorten a Person's Life*. WebMD. Retrieved September 10, 2021, from https://www.webmd.com/mental-health/news/ 20120731/mild-anxiety-may-shorten-persons-life
- Guenzel, N., McChargue, D., & University of Nebraska Medical Center. (2021). Addiction Relapse Prevention. *StatPearls*. Published. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK551500/ #\_NBK551500\_pubdet\_

- Hatfield, D., McCullough, L., Frantz, S. H. B., & Krieger, K. (2009). Do we know when our clients get worse? an investigation of therapists' ability to detect negative client change. *Clinical Psychology & Psychotherapy*, n/a. https://doi.org/10.1002/cpp.656
- Leung, D. (2020, February). Using Passive Sensor Data From Smartphones To Measure Mental Health. LivNao Technologies Corp. https://livnao.com/resources/publications/ whitepaper-dc2.pdf
- Marsden, J., Tai, B., Ali, R., Hu, L., Rush, A. J., & Volkow, N. (2019). Measurement-based care using DSM-5 for opioid use disorder: can we make opioid medication treatment more effective? *Addiction*, *114*(8), 1346–1353. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.14546
- Melek, S., Norris, D., & Paulus, J. (2014, April). *Economic Impact of Integrated Medical-Behavioral Healthcare*. American Psychiatric Association. https://thcd.hbs.org/wp-content/ uploads/sites/8/2016/09/Milliman-Report-Economic-Impact-Integrated-Implications-Psychiatry-1.pdf
- Miller, S., Brown, J., Sparks, J., & Claud, D. (2003). The Outcome Rating Scale: A Preliminary Study of the Reliability, Validity, and Feasibility of a Brief Visual Analog Measure. *Journal of Brief Therapy*, 2(2), 91–100. https://www.scottdmiller.com/wp-content/uploads/ documents/OutcomeRatingScale-JBTv2n2.pdf
- Murphy, J. K., Michalak, E. E., Liu, J., Colquhoun, H., Burton, H., Yang, X., Yang, T., Wang, X., Fei, Y., He, Y., Wang, Z., Xu, Y., Zhang, P., Su, Y., Huang, J., Huang, L., Yang, L., Lin, X., Fang, Y., ... Chen, J. (2021). Barriers and facilitators to implementing measurement-based care for depression in Shanghai, China: a situational analysis. *BMC Psychiatry*, *21*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-021-03442-5
- National Institute on Drug Abuse (NIH), & Volkow, N. (2018). Principles of Drug Addiction Treatment: A Research-Based Guide (Third Edition). *National Institutes of Health (NIH)*. Published. https://www.drugabuse.gov/download/675/principles-drug-addictiontreatment-research-based-guide-third-edition.pdf? v=74dad603627bab89b93193918330c223
- NEJM Catalyst. (2017). What Is Value-Based Healthcare? *New England Journal of Medicine* (*NEJM*) *Catalyst*. Published. https://doi.org/10.1056/CAT.17.0558
- Peretz, D., Arnaert, A., & Ponzoni, N. N. (2016). Determining the cost of implementing and operating a remote patient monitoring programme for the elderly with chronic conditions: A systematic review of economic evaluations. *Journal of Telemedicine and Telecare*, 24(1), 13–21. https://doi.org/10.1177/1357633x16669239
- Pettinati, H., & Dundon, W. (2011). Comorbid Depression and Alcohol Dependence. *Psychiatric Times*, *28*(6). https://www.psychiatrictimes.com/view/comorbid-depression-and-alcohol-dependence
- Price, G., Norbeck, T., Ray, W., Libby, R., & Jones, P. (2018). 2018 Survey of America's Physicians. *The Physicians Foundation*, *1*. https://physiciansfoundation.org/wp-content/uploads/ 2018/09/physicians-survey-results-final-2018.pdf

- Rao, S. K., Kimball, A. B., Lehrhoff, S. R., Hidrue, M. K., Colton, D. G., Ferris, T. G., & Torchiana, D. F. (2017). The Impact of Administrative Burden on Academic Physicians. *Academic Medicine*, 92(2), 237–243. https://doi.org/10.1097/acm.00000000001461
- Siniscalchi, K. A., Broome, M. E., Fish, J., Ventimiglia, J., Thompson, J., Roy, P., Pipes, R., & Trivedi, M. (2020). Depression Screening and Measurement-Based Care in Primary Care. Journal of Primary Care & Community Health, 11, 215013272093126. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/2150132720931261
- Skipper, G., & Dupont, R. (2019, December 3). Should You Use Remote Monitoring in Your Addiction Medicine Practice? Advanced Recovery Systems. https:// www.advancedrecoverysystems.com/use-remote-monitoring-addiction-medicinepractice/
- Tauscher, J. S., Cohn, E. B., Johnson, T. R., Diteman, K. D., Ries, R. K., Atkins, D. C., & Hallgren, K. A. (2021). What do clinicians want? Understanding frontline addiction treatment clinicians' preferences and priorities to improve the design of measurement-based care technology. *Addiction Science & Clinical Practice*, *16*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/ s13722-021-00247-5
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS), & Han, B. (2020). Key Substance Use and Mental Health Indicators in the United States: Results from the 2019 National Survey on Drug Use and Health. *Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration*, *PEP20-07-01-001*(NSDUH Series H-55). https://www.samhsa.gov/data/sites/default/files/ reports/rpt29393/2019NSDUHFFRPDFWHTML/2019NSDUHFFRIPDFW090120.pdf
- Vos, T., Flaxman, A. D., Naghavi, M., Lozano, R., Michaud, C., Ezzati, M., Shibuya, K., Salomon, J. A., Abdalla, S., Aboyans, V., Abraham, J., Ackerman, I., Aggarwal, R., Ahn, S. Y., Ali, M. K., AlMazroa, M. A., Alvarado, M., Anderson, H. R., Anderson, L. M., . . . Murray, C. J. (2012). Years lived with disability (YLDs) for 1160 sequelae of 289 diseases and injuries 1990–2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. *The Lancet*, *380*(9859), 2163–2196. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(12)61729-2
- Winblad, U., Mor, V., McHugh, J. P., & Rahman, M. (2017). ACO-Affiliated Hospitals Reduced Rehospitalizations From Skilled Nursing Facilities Faster Than Other Hospitals. *Health Affairs*, 36(1), 67–73. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2016.0759